FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/10/2025 8:09 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/10/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. \_\_\_\_

COA NO. 57744-5-II Case #: 1045531

# THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v. PAUL CLARK,

Petitioner.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

The Honorable David Edwards, Judge

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

CASEY GRANNIS Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC 2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 623-2373

###

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Paul Clark is the petitioner.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Clark requests review of the decision in <u>State v.</u>

<u>Paul Thomas Clark</u>, Court of Appeals No. 57744-5-II

(slip op. filed August 12, 2025), attached as Appendix A.

#### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Must the community custody condition prohibiting the consumption, possession or purchase of cannabis incorporate an exception for the lawful use of medical cannabis authorized by a medical professional because it aligns with state legislative intent to provide compassionate medical care, avoids absurd results and a potential equal protection problem, and does not perpetuate the racist origins of federal law?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Paul Clark pled guilty to several felony offenses. CP 29-41; 1RP<sup>1</sup> 5-16. According to the probable cause statement and the DOC pre-sentence investigation report, cannabis had nothing to do with the offenses. CP 8-13, 166.

The trial court imposed a total of 77 months in confinement followed by 36 months of community custody. CP 48-49; 1RP 24-25. Appendix H to the judgment and sentence lists a variety of community custody conditions, including conditions that prohibit controlled substances without a lawful prescription. CP 62-64.

Clark subsequently filed a pro se CrR 7.8 motion challenging various conditions of community custody.

 $<sup>^1</sup>$  The verbatim report of proceedings is cited as follows: 1RP – one volume consisting of 11/1/21, 11/22/21, 12/6/21; 2RP – one volume consisting of 10/10/22, 11/14/22.

CP 67-91. One of those challenged conditions provides: "Do not purchase, possess, or consume alcohol or marijuana." CP 63 (App. H – Other Condition 23). The trial court modified or struck some conditions, but left others intact, including the prohibition on cannabis. CP 126-27; 2RP 5-6.

On appeal from the trial court's CrR 7.8 decision, Clark challenged various community custody conditions. Among other things, Clark argued the prohibition on cannabis needed to make an exception for lawful medical use. Brief of Appellant at 67-69. The Court of Appeals disagreed and affirmed the condition on the basis that the community custody statute only makes an exception for "prescriptions" issued by a medical professional, whereas medical professionals only give "authorization" for medical cannabis. Slip op. at 10.

#### E. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. To honor legislative intent and avoid absurdity, the prohibition on cannabis as a community custody condition needs to make an exception for lawful medical use.

Clark asks this Court to review the validity of the community custody condition in the judgment and sentence that provides "Do not purchase, possess, or consume alcohol or marijuana." CP 63 (App. H – Other Condition 23).

As a matter of humanitarian compassion, the legislature intended that the people of this state have lawful access to cannabis to treat serious medical conditions. The legislature also intended to allow those serving community custody to lawfully use controlled substances when a medical professional deems it appropriate. Any community custody condition that

prohibits cannabis without making an exception for its lawful medical use is contrary to legislative intent.

The stopgap rule of statutory construction that prohibits strained, unlikely or absurd results mandates this conclusion, as does the rule that statutes will be construed to avoid constitutional doubt.

a. The legislature intended that people be able to use cannabis to treat medical conditions when authorized by a medical professional, and those serving community custody subject to DOC supervision be permitted to use medical cannabis without being sanctioned.

Courts discern legislative intent "from the plain language enacted by the legislature, considering the text of the provision in question, the context of the statute in which the provision is found, related provisions, amendments to the provision, and the statutory scheme as a whole." State v. Hawkins, 200 Wn.2d 477, 490, 519 P.3d 182 (2022) (quoting Ass'n of

Wash. Spirits & Wine Distribs. v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd., 182 Wn.2d 342, 350, 340 P.3d 849 (2015)). Also, "related statutory provisions must be harmonized to effectuate a consistent statutory scheme that maintains the integrity of the respective statutes."

State v. Velasquez, 176 Wn.2d 333, 336, 292 P.3d 92 (2013).

A comprehensive view of the legislature's treatment of cannabis and its interaction with community custody obligations is necessary to fully grasp how the various statutes are intended to operate in harmony.

In enacting the medical cannabis statute, the legislature found that "some patients with terminal or debilitating medical conditions may, under their health care professional's care, benefit from the medical use of cannabis." RCW 69.51A.005(1)(a). "Humanitarian

compassion necessitates that the decision to use cannabis by patients with terminal or debilitating medical conditions is a personal, individual decision, based upon their health care professional's professional medical judgment and discretion." RCW 69.51A.005(1)(b).

The medical cannabis statute allows a health care professional to "provide a qualifying patient or that patient's designated provider with an authorization for the medical use of cannabis in accordance with this section." RCW 69.51A.030(2)(a). The patient must have a "terminal or debilitating medical condition" that may may benefit with medical use of cannabis. RCW 69.51A.030(2)(b)(iii).

The legislature expressly intended that "[q]ualifying patients with terminal or debilitating medical conditions who, in the judgment of their health

care professionals, may benefit from the medical use of cannabis, shall not be arrested, prosecuted, or subject to other criminal sanctions or civil consequences under state law based solely on their medical use of cannabis, notwithstanding any other provision of law[.]" RCW 69.51A.005(2)(a) (emphasis added).

The medical cannabis statute does not foreclose medical cannabis use while being supervised in the community following a criminal conviction, recognizing DOC's authority to oversee the matter. RCW 69.51A.005(4).2 Following this statutory authorization, DOC established the "has processes for the authorization of medical cannabis use for an individual

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Nothing in this chapter diminishes the authority of correctional agencies and departments, including local governments or jails, to establish a procedure for determining when the use of cannabis would impact community safety or the effective supervision of those on active supervision for a criminal conviction." RCW 69.51A.005(4).

on community supervision with an imposed condition not to use cannabis." DOC Policy 380.430 (attached as Appendix B).<sup>3</sup> The DOC has a form it uses to permit cannabis use during supervision when medically appropriate. See Use of Medical Cannabis Verification, DOC 15-053 (2/24/23) (attached as Appendix C).<sup>4</sup>

Another statute, meanwhile, authorizes dispensation of controlled substances by medical prescription. A practitioner may dispense or deliver a controlled substance to an individual "only for medical treatment," which includes dispensing or administering a narcotic drug for pain, including intractable pain." RCW 69.50.308(j).

Further: "The possession, by a person 21 years of age or older, of useable cannabis, cannabis

<sup>3</sup> Available at: https://doc.wa.gov/sites/default/files/data/files/380430.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Available at: https://doc.wa.gov/sites/default/files/2025-02/14-053.pdf

concentrates, or cannabis-infused products in amounts that do not exceed those set forth in RCW 69.50.360(3) is not a violation of this section, this chapter, or any other provision of Washington state law." RCW 69.50.4013(3)(a).

Also, it is not unlawful to knowingly possess or use a controlled substance in a public space when the substance is "obtained directly from, or pursuant to, a valid prescription or order of a practitioner while acting in the course of his or her professional practice." RCW 69.50.4013(1)(a) (b) (emphasis added).

As per the community custody statute, a court may order a person to "Refrain from possessing or consuming controlled substances except pursuant to lawfully issued prescriptions." RCW 9.94A.703(2)(c) (emphasis added). The exception for lawful prescriptions became part of the Sentencing Reform

Act decades ago, long before the legislature authorized medical cannabis. Former RCW 9.94A.120(8)(b)(iii) (1988). Those who violate a community custody condition are subject to arrest and criminal sanctions, including jail time. RCW 9.94A.631; RCW 9.94A.737; RCW 9.94A.6332; RCW 9.94A.6333.

The trial court in Clark's case included the prescription exception for community custody conditions that generally address controlled substances. CP 50 (Section 4.2(b) – Condition 4); CP 63 (App H, Mandatory Condition 3; Other Condition 21). But no exception for the lawful use of medical cannabis was made in Condition 23. CP 63.

# b. The racist history of cannabis prohibition and Washington's attempt to overcome it.

Cannabis is a schedule I controlled substance under federal law, designated as having "no currently

accepted medical use in treatment." 21 U.S.C. § 812(b)(1)(B), Schedule I (c)(17). Cannabis remains a controlled substance under Washington law, as the legislature defines a controlled substance as a drug included in Schedules I through V as set forth in federal law. RCW 69.50.101(15).

Why was cannabis listed as a schedule I controlled substance under federal law back in 1972?

John Ehrlichman, President Nixon's aide, pulled back the curtain decades later:

The Nixon campaign in 1968, and the Nixon White House after that, had two enemies: the antiwar left and black people. You understand what I'm saying? We knew we couldn't make it illegal to be either against the war or black, but by getting the public to associate the hippies with marijuana and blacks with heroin, and then criminalizing both heavily, we could disrupt those communities. We could arrest their leaders, raid their homes, break up their meetings and vilify them night after night on the

evening news. Did we know we were lying about the drugs? Of course we did.<sup>5</sup>

The Washington legislature is sensitive to the racist history involving cannabis. As noted by the Supreme Court, use of the term "marijuana" is rooted in racism, and for this reason, the legislature has enacted a law to replace the term in statutes with the term "cannabis." State v. Fraser, 199 Wn.2d 465, 469 n.1, 509 P.3d 282 (2022). "The transition from using the scientific 'cannabis' to 'marijuana' or 'marihuana' in the early 20th century stems from antiMexican, and other racist and anti-immigrant, sentiments and efforts to demonize cannabis." Id. (quoting Michael Vitiello, Marijuana Legalization, Racial Disparity, and

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> David Downs, <u>The Science Behind the DEA's Long War on Marijuana</u>, April 19, 2016 (available at: https://www.scientificamerican.com/ article/the-science-behind-the-dea-s-long-war-on-marijuana/) (quoting Dan Baum, <u>Legalize It All: How to Win the War on Drugs</u>, Harper's Magazine, April 2016 (https://harpers.org/archive/2016/04/legalize-it-all/).

the Hope for Reform, 23 Lewis & Clark L. Rev. 789, 797-98 (2019)).

Washington's medical cannabis statute represents a repudiation of the racist, anti-scientific origins of the federal law. The only reason why medical professionals in Washington cannot write a "prescription" for medical cannabis is because cannabis is listed under federal law as a Schedule I controlled substance with no medical value and the Federal Drug Administration has not generally approved cannabis for prescription use. 21 U.S.C.A. § 355. This is why Washington's medical cannabis statute provides for medical professionals to provide an "authorization" for medical cannabis rather than a "prescription." RCW 69.51A.030(2)(a).

c. The Court of Appeals' interpretation of the community custody statute conflicts with expressed legislative intent, yields a strained result, and renders the statute subject to constitutional doubt.

There is no precedent interpreting legislative intent for the "prescription" exception in RCW 9.94A.703(2)(c). The Court of Appeals rejected Clark's argument that an exception for authorized use of medical cannabis be incorporated into Condition 23, perfunctorily reasoning "Cannabis is a controlled substance, and an authorization to use medical cannabis is not a prescription." Slip op. at 10 (citing RCW 69.50.204(c)(17); RCW 69.51A.010(1)(b)).

Clark agrees an "authorization" to use medical cannabis is not a "prescription," but that hypertechnical distinction does not triumph over a reasonable reading of legislative intent.

In construing statutes, courts should "avoid a literal reading if it would result in unlikely, absurd or strained consequences" because the statute's purpose "should prevail over express but inept wording." Bearden v. City of Ocean Shores, \_\_Wn.3d\_\_, 570 P.3d 684, 689 (2025) (quoting Whatcom County v. City of Bellingham, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996)). Courts employ this "stopgap principle" because it is presumed the legislature does not intend such results. State v. J.P., 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003).

From the plain language of RCW 9.94A.703(2)(c), the legislature intended that those on community custody are not prohibited or punished for possessing and consuming controlled substances when a medical professional lawfully authorizes their use. It would be absurd for the legislature to authorize an exception for the lawful use of more serious controlled substances

such as opioids (including fentanyl) but no corollary exception for cannabis, which is legal under Washington law in limited quantities without medical authorization <sup>6</sup> and legal in larger amounts with medical authorization. RCW 69.51A.030(2)(a). There is no conceivable, reasonable justification for such a disparity in treatment. The Court of Appeals offered none.

"In patients with chronic pain, medical cannabis treatment has been associated with an improvement in pain-related outcomes, increased quality of life, improved function, and a reduced requirement for opioid analgesia." Michael D. Sousa, Foreshadowing an Inevitable Clash: Criminal Probation, Drug Treatment Courts, and Medical Marijuana, 56 Suffolk U.L. Rev. 521, 551 (2023) (quoting Arun Bhaskar et al.,

<sup>6</sup> RCW 69.50.4013(3)(a); RCW 69.50.360(3).

Consensus Recommendations on Dosing and Administration of Medical Cannabis to Treat Chronic Pain: Results of a Modified Delphi Process, 3 J. Cannabis Rsch. 1, 2 (2021)) (emphasis added). "[W]hile both drugs have the potential for abuse, opioid addiction and overdose can result in death, but in more than several thousand years of documented use, there has never been a reported death due to an overdose of marijuana." Id.

Fentanyl is listed as a Schedule II controlled substance under federal law, meaning it "has a currently accepted medical use in treatment in the United States." 21 U.S.C. § 812(b)(2)(B), Schedule II (b)(6). The Washington legislature recognizes the lethality of "high-potency synthetic opioids, including fentanyl." RCW 26.44.063(5).

According to the Court of Appeals, though, the legislature intended controlled substances with a high potential for abuse and death, such as fentanyl, be made available to those serving community custody when authorized by a medical professional, but not medical cannabis. That doesn't make sense.

Courts "construe statutes to avoid constitutional doubt." Utter ex rel. State v. Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Wash., 182 Wn.2d 398, 434, 341 P.3d 953 (2015). There is no rational basis to treat cannabis used for medical treatment different than other controlled substances used for medical treatment in the context of community custody. If an exception is made for one, an exception must be made for the other.

The Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 9.94A.703(2)(c) raises an equal protection problem. Equal protection under the state and federal

constitutions guarantees "persons similarly situated with respect to the legitimate purpose of the law must receive like treatment." State v. Manussier, 129 Wn.2d 652, 672, 921 P.2d 473 (1996); U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1; Wash. Const. art. I, § 12. Under a rational basis test, a legislative classification will be invalidated on equal protection grounds if "it rests on grounds wholly irrelevant to the achievement of legitimate state objectives." State v. Shawn P., 122 Wn.2d 553, 561, "[T]he relationship of a 859 P.2d 1220(1993).classification to its goal must not be so attenuated as to render the distinction arbitrary or irrational." DeYoung v. Providence Med. Ctr., 136 Wn.2d 136, 149, 960 P.2d 919 (1998).

The Court of Appeals' reliance on the distinction between a "prescription" for controlled substances and an "authorization" for medical cannabis as the basis to categorically deprive medical cannabis users of relief while on community custody is arbitrary and irrational in light of the legislative goal of promoting compassionate treatment for serious medical conditions.

Courts are not supposed to "give a hypertechnical reading of a statute" when doing so would "yield an absurd result." Pudmaroff v. Allen, 138 Wn.2d 55, 65, 977 P.2d 574 (1999). "We need not leave our common sense at the doorstep when we interpret a statute." Allison v. Hous. Auth. of City of Seattle, 118 Wn.2d 79, 86, 821 P.2d 34 (1991) (quoting Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228, 241, 109 S. Ct. 1775, 104 L. Ed. 2d 268 (1989)).

Humanitarian compassion to treat painful medical conditions was the driving force behind the medical cannabis statute. RCW 69.51A.005(1)(b). The

DOC is authorized to permit medical cannabis during community custody. RCW 69.51A.005(4). The only reasonable interpretation of the prescription exception for controlled substances in RCW 9.94A.703(2)(c) is that the legislature intended those serving community custody likewise have access to controlled substances to treat medical conditions when authorized by a medical professional as a matter of humanitarian compassion.

The Court of Appeals decision implies that those on community custody are categorically excluded from receiving an exception for medical cannabis because a "prescription" is never available for cannabis. That approach cannot be squared with legislative intent that those complying with the medical cannabis statute are immune from criminal sanction, those on supervision can use medical cannabis subject to DOC review, and

DOC's implementation of that statutory directive in its policy permitting medical cannabis during community custody. RCW 69.51A.005(2)(a), (4); DOC Policy 380.430.

The legislature could not have intended the senseless result embraced by the Court of Appeals in this case. "Overriding all technical rules of statutory construction must be the rule of reason upholding the obvious purpose that the legislature was attempting to achieve." State v. Coffey, 77 Wn.2d 630, 637, 465 P.2d 665 (1970). This principle requires an exception for lawful medical use of cannabis in the community The custody condition. obvious purpose of the legislation is to carve out an exception for lawful use of controlled substances, of which cannabis is one, when authorized by a medical professional.

This should not be a controversial position. It is common sense. Indeed, page 8 of the judgment and sentence form on the Washington state court website boilerplate option: "Refrain provides this from possessing consuming controlled substances, orincluding cannabis, except pursuant to lawfully issued prescriptions/authorizations." Appendix D.<sup>7</sup>

Some trial courts have begun to follow suit. See, e.g., State v. Nelson, \_Wn.3d\_\_, 565 P.3d 906, 910 (2025) ("Appendix H includes the conditions prohibiting Nelson from using controlled substances without a prescription, consuming alcohol, and using

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Available at https://www.courts.wa.gov/forms/?fa= forms.contribute&formID=18. The Washington Pattern Forms Committee, established by the Supreme Court, is the central authority for standardized court forms in the State of Washington. https://www.courts.wa.gov/committee/index.cfm?fa=committee.home&committee\_i d=150#:~:text=The%20Washington%20Pattern%20Forms%20Committee,Oversee%20all%20necessary%20red rafting

cannabis without medical authorization."). But others have not done so, and the Court of Appeals has shown no interest in correcting the problem.

Clark's petition presents an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). As recognized by the legislature, medical cannabis is a legitimate form of treatment for severe health conditions. Those serving community custody should not be excluded from receiving that humane benefit.

#### F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, Clark respectfully requests that this Court grant review.

I certify that this document was prepared using word processing software and contains 3065 words excluding those portions exempt under RAP 18.17.