FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/6/2025 4:12 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

NO. 1045531

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.
PAUL CLARK,
Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

THE HONORABLE DAVID L. EDWARDS, JUDGE

STATE'S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NORMA J. TILLOTSON Prosecuting Attorney for Grays Harbor County

BY:

WILLIAM A. LERAAS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA # 15489

OFFICE AND POST OFFICE ADDRESS Grays Harbor County Prosecuting Attorney 102 West Broadway Room 102 Montesano, WA 98563 (360) 249-3951

TABLES

COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner sufficiently set forth the factual and procedural history of this case for the purposes of this petition for review.

The State must point out, however, that there is absolutely nothing in the record indicating that Mr. Clark had an authorization for medical marijuana at the time of sentencing nor that he intends to apply for one in the future, nor did he make that argument below or in this petition.

While he requests that this Court review the condition that he "not purchase, possess, or consume alcohol or marijuana", petition for review, p. 4, his argument focuses primarily, if not exclusively, on marijuana (or cannabis). In response to this argument generally, the Court of Appeals correctly held:

RCW 9.94A.703(2)(c) provides that, "Unless waived by the court, as part of any term of community custody, the court shall order an offender to . . . [r]efrain from possessing or consuming controlled substances except pursuant to lawfully issued prescriptions." Cannabis is a

controlled substance, and an authorization to use medical cannabis is *not* a prescription. RCW 69.50.204(c)(17); RCW 69.51A.010(1)(b). And, "[a]s part of any term of community custody, the court may order an offender to . . . [r]efrain from possessing or consuming alcohol." RCW 9.94A.703 (3)(e). Thus, a trial court *must* prohibit any offender from possessing or consuming cannabis and other controlled substances without a prescription and may prohibit the offender form possessing or consuming alcohol. The fact that these conditions are not crime related is irrelevant because they are authorized by statute. State v. Greatreaks, 34 Wn. App. 2d 173, 186, 566 P.3d 886 (2025), petition for review filed, No. 104015-1.

State v. Clark, No. 57744-5-II, at 10-11 (emphasis in the original).

ACCEPTANCE OR REVIEW

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme

Court only if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict

with a decision of the Supreme Court, is in conflict with a

published decision of the Court of Appeals, involves a

significant question of law under the state or federal or

constitution, or if an issue of substantial public interest that

should be decided by the Supreme Court is involved. RAP 13.4 (b)(1), (2), (3) & (4).

Mr. Clark argues that this petition presents an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). To the contrary, this issue has long been settled, as will be demonstrated herein.

ARGUMENT

1. The Medical Cannabis Act's prohibition on the possession and consumption of cannabis by those on supervision is valid and is consistent with the Sentencing Reform Act.

The Medical Cannabis Act (the Act) expressly excludes individuals who are under supervision for a criminal conviction:

(1)(a) The arrest and prosecution protections established in RCW 69.51A.040 may not be asserted in a supervision revocation or violation hearing by a person who is supervised by a corrections agency or department, including local governments or jails, that has determined that the terms of this section are inconsistent with and contrary to his or her supervision.

- (b) The affirmative defense established in RCW 69.51A.045 may not be asserted in a supervision revocation or violation hearing by a person who is supervised by a corrections agency or department, including local governments or nails, that has determined that the terms of this section are inconsistent with and contrary to his or her supervision.
- (2) RCW 69.51A.040 does not apply to a person who is supervised for a criminal conviction by a corrections agency or department, including local governments or jails, that has determined that the terms of this chapter are inconsistent with and contrary to his or her supervision.

RCW 69.51A.055

The Act did not alter the legislature's requirements on conditions sentencing courts must order unless waived. The legislature has not authorized the modification Petitioner suggests to the waivable conditions imposed.

A trial court cannot "impose a community custody condition unless authorized by the legislature." *State v. Warnock*, 174 Wn.App. 608, 611, 299 P.3d 1173 (2013). RCW 9.94A.703(2)(c) *requires*, unless waived, a trial court to order

an offender to "[r]efrain from possessing or consuming controlled substances except pursuant to lawfully issued prescriptions." Cannabis is a schedule I controlled substance. RCW 69.50.204 (c)(17). Moreover, a medical provider's "authorization" is not a prescription. RCW 69.51A.010(1)(b).

Division II of the Court of Appeals addressed a similar challenge in *State v. Houck*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 636, 650, 446 P.3d 646 (2019), *review denied*, 194 Wn.2d 1024 (2020). In *Houck*, the court held that the Act did not supersede the community custody conditions that trial courts shall order. The court reasoned that "the Medical Use of Cannabis Act did not implicitly or explicitly repeal the statutory classification of [cannabis] as a schedule I controlled substance." *Houck* at 646-47¹; *see* RCW 69.50.204(c)(17). The court additionally noted that doctors are prohibited from issuing prescriptions for

¹In 2022 the legislature replaced the term "marijuana" throughout the Revised Code of Washington with the term "cannabis." *See* Laws of 2022, ch. 16. *Houck* predates the change and uses the term "marijuana."

medical cannabis and are merely allowed to issue an authorization for its use. *Id.* at 647. Accordingly, the court rejected Houck's challenge that the sentencing court exceeded its statutory authority in prohibiting him from possessing or consuming controlled substances without an exception for medical cannabis authorizations. *Id.* at 650.

Division I also recently rejected a similar claim, relying on the reasoning in *Houck*, in *State v. Boese*, No. 86683-4-I, WL 2207410 at *6 (Aug 4, 2025).² In addition to agreeing with *Houck's* holding that the Medical Cannabis Act did not supersede community custody conditions that trial courts "shall order" pursuant to RCW 9.94A.703(2), the court in *Boese* noted that the condition is "unambiguously consistent with the community custody and medical cannabis statutes." *Id.* Thus, the court held that the trial court did not err in imposing the condition. *Id.*

² Unpublished. Cited pursuant to GR 14.1(a) to be accorded such persuasive value as this Court deems appropriate.

The sentencing court has authority to waive conditions set forth in RCW 9.94A.703(2), but it does not have authority to impose those conditions and carve out an exception for cannabis authorizations until and unless the legislature amends the statute. The trail court did not err in imposing conditions consistent with RCW 9.94A.703(2)(c).

2. Petitioner's argument requires further factual development and thus is not ripe for review, as there is nothing in the record indicating that Mr. Clark had an authorization for medical marijuana at the time of sentencing nor that he intends to apply for one in the future.

A pre-enforcement challenge to a community custody condition is ripe for review if the issues raised are primarily legal, do not require further factual development, and the challenged action is final. *State v. Cates*, 183 Wn.2d 531, 534, 354 P.3d 832 (2015). Further factual development is needed when the challenger's argument is based on the potential for "[s]ome future misapplication of the community custody

condition," which depends "on the particular circumstances of the attempted enforcement." *Id.* at 535.

In addition, courts "must consider the hardship" the appellant will face if review is declined. *State v. Sanchez Valencia*, 169 Wn.2d 782, 789, 239 P.3d 1059 (2010). For example, conditions that place immediate restrictions on the offender's conduct without the necessity of State action have been considered ripe for review. *See id*.

The issue Clark presents is primarily legal but also requires further factual development. Clark does not show that he has a medical authorization for cannabis or that he is likely to obtain one. His argument is based on the future possibility of qualifying for one. And, as previously demonstrated, his argument ignores RCW 69.51A.055 which unequivocally states that the medical cannabis chapter does not apply to persons under supervision for a criminal offense.

Further, the risk of hardship to Clark is insufficient to justify this Court granting review. According to this Court in *State v. Nelson, 4* Wn.3d 482, 565 P.3d 906 (2025), the risk of hardship is greatest when the challenged conditions will "immediately restrict [] petitioners' conduct upon their release from prison." *Nelson* at 496 (citing *Sanchez Valencia,* 169 Wn.2d at 791). As noted, nothing in the record indicates that Clark had a cannabis authorization prior to his sentencing or that he may receive one in the future.

CONCLUSION

The intent of the legislature is clear. Despite Petitioner's argument that "[t]he legislature could not have intended the senseless result embraced by the Court of Appeals," petition for review, page 23, the Medical Cannabis Act expressly excludes those on supervision for a criminal offense. This prohibition in the act is consistent with the Sentencing Reform Act. *See Houck* and *Boese, supra*. Petitioner does not even cite or

discuss *Houck* and *Boese*. This Court denied review in *Houck*. Thus, there is a published opinion addressing this issue; this Court need not weigh in.

It is the role of the legislature, not this Court, to amend the waivable conditions of RCW 9.94A.703(2) and RCW 69.51A.055 if it wishes to allow all probationers to benefit from medical cannabis authorizations. It has not done so. Instead, the legislature continues to restrict the use of medical cannabis by a person under supervision. *See* RCW 69.51A.055.

Further, there is nothing in the record indicating that Mr.

Clark either had an authorization for cannabis or that he intends to apply for one in the future.

Petitioner is not entitled to review under RAP 13.4(b)(4); this issue was settled almost six years ago by *Houck*. This Court denied review of that case.

The decision below was correct. For all the reasons contained herein this petition should be denied.

This document contains 1555 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.